
     

 

 
Notice of a public  

Decision Session - Executive Member for Economy and Strategic 
Planning 

 
To: Councillor Mason (Executive Member) 

 
Date: Tuesday, 25 October 2022 

 
Time: 4.00 pm 

 
Venue: The George Hudson Board Room - 1st Floor West 

Offices (F045) 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Notice to Members – Post Decision Calling In: 
 
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item* 
on this agenda, notice must be given to Democracy Support 
Group by: 
 
4:00pm on Thursday 27 October 2022 if an item is called in after 
a decision has been taken. 
 
*With the exception of matters that have been subject of a 
previous call in, require Full Council approval or are urgent which 
are not subject to the call-in provisions. Any called in items will be 
considered by the Customer and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

 
Written representations in respect of item on this agenda should be 
submitted to Democratic Services by 5.00pm on Friday 21 October 
2022. 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, the Executive Member is asked to 

declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other registerable 
interests he might have in respect of business on this agenda, if 
he has not already done so in advance on the Register of 
Interests. 
 



 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 

2022. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
 
Please note that our registration deadlines are set as 2 working 
days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the management of 
public participation at our meetings.  The deadline for registering 
at this meeting is 5:00pm on Friday 21 October 2022.   
 
To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill in an online 
registration form.  If you have any questions about the 
registration form or the meeting, please contact Democratic 
Services.  Contact details can be found at the foot of this agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be webcast including any registered public speakers who have 
given their permission. The meeting can be viewed live and on 
demand at www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 
During coronavirus, we made some changes to how we ran 
council meetings, including facilitating remote participation by 
public speakers. See our updates 
(www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy) for more information on 
meetings and decisions 
 

4. City of York Council response to consultation 
on Selby District Council ‘Pre-submission 
Publication Local Plan consultation’   

(Pages 5 - 36) 

 Selby District Council (SDC) is holding formal consultation on the 
proposed submission version of Selby District Local Plan and 
associated evidence base. The consultation ends at 5pm on 28 
October 2022. The SDC Local Plan includes an allocation for a new 
settlement located close to the CYC administrative boundary. The 
allocation is known as ‘Heronby’ (referred to as Stillingfleet in 
previous consultations). CYC has been consulted by SDC as part of 
this consultation. This report provides a summary of the concerns 
regarding the allocation at Heronby and the potential impact on 
CYC. 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy


 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Executive Member considers 

urgent under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer 
Margo Budreviciute 
Contact details:  

 Telephone – 01904 551573 

 Email - margo.budreviciute@york.gov.uk  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting  
 

 Registering to speak 

 Written Representations 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports 
Contact details are set out above 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

mailto:robert.flintoft@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Member For 
Economy and Strategic Planning 

Date 26 July 2022 

Present Councillor Mason  

  

 
6. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (10:04)  

 
The Executive Member was asked to declare, at this point in the 
meeting, any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registerable interests he might have in respect of business on 
the agenda, if he had not already done so in advance on the 
Register of Interests. None were declared. 
 
 
 

7. MINUTES (10:05)  
 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 

June 2022 be approved as a correct record and be 
signed by the Executive Member. 

 
 
 

8. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION (10:05)  
 
It was reported that there had been two registrations to speak 
under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 
Gwen Swinburn spoke under the general remit of the 10 year 
economic plan, suggesting that it was not fit for purpose. She 
listed a number of areas in which she felt that the strategy was 
deficient, highlighting that he strategy made no mention of 
targeting inequalities in deprived communities. She noted that 
the key actions in the strategy were unfocussed and suggested 
that it needed to be rewritten.  
 
Cllr Kilbane spoke on agenda item 4, Quarterly Economic 
Update. He welcomed inward investment being taken in house 
at the council and he asked for clarification on the staffing 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



structure of the inward investment team. He raised a number of 
questions concerning update and made requests to the 
Executive Member for areas of inclusion in the report. 
 
The Executive Member noted the speakers’ comments and 
advised that before the Decision Session he and officers had 
met with 15 businesses to discuss policy. 
 
 

9. QUARTERLY ECONOMIC UPDATE (10:16)  
 
The Executive Member considered a report providing updates 
on the local financial climate, core business support work and 
Council-led initiatives, and includes an update on the state of 
the national and local economy, key account management work, 
progress against major milestones, and inward investment. The 
Head of Economic Growth and Director for Housing, Economy 
and Regeneration were in attendance to present the report. The 
Head of Economic Growth detailed the report, highlighting that: 

 The number of people on payroll had increased. 

 The claimant count was 1200 above pre covid levels. 

 City centre footfall was 15% down. There had been spikes in 
footfall during the changing footfall restrictions. This figure 
was now levelling up. 

 There had been a successful visit from the Minister for Rail 
the previous day for the bid to bring GBR Rail to York. 

 The York Festival of Business was in development and 2000 
businesses received the business bulletin. 

 
The Executive Member then asked several questions about the 
update to which the Head of Economic Growth and Director for 
Housing, Economy and Regeneration explained: 

 How the claimant count had changed during different 
economic phases, including covid.  

 The background to the inward investment posts and the 
staffing structure for it. It was noted that the Head of Inward 
Investment would consider the resources needed to support 
this when they were in post. 

 The concerns raised by businesses at the business breakfast 
that morning. These concerns included the cost of doing 
business (particularly for sole traders), which was causing 
stress, impacting mental health and causing uncertainty. 
There was concern around skills recruitment and retention, 
with uncertainty being the common theme in concerns. 

 

Page 2



The Head of Economic Growth and Director for Housing, 
Economy and Regeneration then addressed the points raised 
by the public speakers. The Executive Member noted that the 
10 year economic strategy was a draft strategy that included 
health implications within it. He asked the Head of Economic 
Growth and Director for Housing, Economy and Regeneration 
about the themes for the Business Festival and they explained 
that they would be working with partner organisations on this. 
Businesses were encouraged to email 
economic.growth@york.gov.uk for information on support for 
their businesses. The Executive Member then; 
Resolved:  That the contents of the Quarterly Economic Update 

report be noted. 
 
Reason:  To support York’s ongoing economic work and 

understand how York is performing from an 
economic perspective.  

 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Mason, Executive Member  
[The meeting started at 10.04 am and finished at 10.27 am]. 

Page 3

mailto:economic.growth@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Decision Session – Executive Member for 
Economy and Strategic Planning 
 

25 October 2022 

Report of the Director of Place 
 

 
Selby Local Plan Pre-submission Consultation Response  
 
Summary 

 
1. Selby District Council (SDC) is holding formal consultation on the 

proposed submission version of Selby District Local Plan and associated 
evidence base. The consultation ends at 5pm 28th of October 2022.  
 

2. The SDC Local Plan includes an allocation for a new settlement located 
close to the CYC administrative boundary. The allocation is known as 
‘Heronby’ (referred to as Stillingfleet in previous consultations). 
 

3. CYC has been consulted by SDC as part of this consultation. This report 
provides a summary of the concerns regarding the allocation at Heronby 
and the potential impact on CYC.  
 

Recommendations 
 
 
4. The Executive Member is asked to:  

 
1) Agree the response to be submitted to Selby District Council for the 

formal consultation on the pre-submission Selby District Council Local 
Plan: 

 
a. Objections to the evidence base related to the allocation of 

Heronby regarding transport impacts to CYC as well as the 
implications of the necessary highway improvements within 
CYC boundary.  

b. Objections to the approach related to the allocation of Heronby 
to education provision and the potential impact to CYC students 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

c. Concern regarding the deliverability of the Heronby allocation 
given the lack of evidence on viability. 

d. Objection to the level of engagement SDC has had with CYC in 
developing the evidence base and on strategic matters that 
cross administrative boundaries with regard to the significant 
adverse impacts the allocation of Heronby would have on CYC 
under Duty to Cooperate  

 
Reason: CYC has been formally consulted under Regulation 19 
of The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 
Background 

5. Selby District Council (SDC) is holding formal consultation on the 
proposed submission version of Selby District Local Plan and associated 
evidence base. The consultation period ends 5pm on Friday 28th 
October 2022. This is the last statutory consultation phase before SDC 
submits the Plan to the Planning Inspectorate. It is known as Regulation 
19 consultation.  
 

6. CYC has been consulted by SDC during previous rounds of consultation. 
A summary of the most recent responses is provided in the section 
below.  
 

7. The SDC Local Plan includes an allocation and a Policy STIL-D for a 
new settlement ‘Heronby’ (formerly known as Sillingfleet) to deliver 
approximately 3,387 homes alongside employment space, schools and a 
village centre. The site is located approximately 1km from the CYC 
boundary alongside the A19. The policy states that approximately 945 of 
the planned homes would be delivered within the Local Plan period to 
2040. The site would be complete by approximately 2065.  

 

Previous consultation with Selby District Council 

Selby District Council -  Preferred Options Local Plan March 21 

8. CYC formally responded to the consultation on Selby District Council’s 
Preferred Options Local Plan in March 2021. The complete response is 
attached as Annex 1 to this report for reference. 
  

9. CYC was generally supportive of the Plan’s general approach to 
strengthen, through regeneration, the role of Selby as the Principal 

Page 6

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents


 

Town, and sensitive heritage-led regeneration in Tadcaster, 
acknowledging the constraints of adjacent Green Belt.  
 

10. At this stage, three different options were consulted on in regard to a 
new settlement, of which Heronby was one (referred to as Stillingfleet at 
this stage). CYC raised concerns in our response as below:   
 

We are concerned that Land South of Escrick Road, Stillingfleet 
(STIL-D) does not represent a suitable or sustainable location for 
development. The capacity of the A19 is a critical issue for York as 
this is a key commuting route between the two authorities. The 
cumulative and significantly adverse impacts to the capacity of our 
road infrastructure would be difficult to resolve, even with proposed 
mitigation (likely to be required within the CYC area and especially 
at the A19/A64 junction). It is therefore our view that we could not 
support a new settlement in this location. Should this option be 
pursued we would welcome more detailed discussions to allow us 
to feed into future cross-boundary transport modelling, and to 
understand the potential impacts for York. 

11. While the response made clear CYC would not support a settlement in 
this location for the reasons detailed above, the response requested that 
if Heronby was to be pursued CYC would welcome more detailed 
discussions to allow us to feed into future cross-boundary transport 
modelling, and to understand the potential impacts for York.  
 

Selby District Local Plan - Additional Sites Consultation Document 
September 21 

12. This consultation ran from August to September 2021 and was related to 
sites submitted through the Selby District Local Plan Preferred Options 
consultation (above).  A total of 44 additional or amended sites were 
submitted for consideration as part of the consultation.  Those additional 
sites considered to be the most suitable were put forward as Preferred 
Sites.   
 

13. The consultation did not relate to sites which were previously included as 
part of the Local Plan Preferred Options consultation only the additional 
or amended sites. 
 

14. CYC did not formally respond to this consultation as none of the new 
sites raised concerns regarding impact to CYC. 

 

Page 7



 

Selby District Local Plan – Evidence Base Documents Consultation 
October 2021 

15. This consultation ran from September to October 2021 and was related 
to Evidence Base documents to support the Selby District Local Plan: 

 Green Belt Review (2021)  

 Greenspace Audit (2021) 

 Local Plan and CIL Viability Report (2021) 

 Indoor and Outdoor Sports Facilities Assessment (2021)  
 
16. CYC responded to this consultation on 14 October 2021 in relation to 

their Stage One Green Belt Review. The complete response is attached 
as Annex 2 to this report for reference. 
 

17. Within this response the penultimate paragraph stated:   
 

We continue to note that there is an intention by Selby District 
Council to progress a new settlement as part of the proposed 
spatial strategy to deliver housing needs. We understand that this 
work is currently progressing and would welcome further 
engagement with City of York Council when appropriate. We would 
particularly like early engagement should a new settlement or 
growth be preferred in the vicinity of Escrick village, to discuss 
potential impacts on related cross-boundary infrastructure 
(particularly the A19 corridor). 

Current Consultation  - Pre-submission Local Plan  
 

18. As part of this current consultation period, SDC has published a draft 
Local Plan and an extensive evidence base to support it.  
 

19. Whilst CYC has no specific comment on the general extent of the pre-
submission Local Plan, significant objection is raised to the allocation of 
a new settlement Heronby.  The site is located approximately 1km from 
the CYC administrative boundary alongside the A19 and raises 
significant issues related to transport, viability and deliverability as well 
as concerns about the impact on education provision within CYC. The 
draft policy wording and extract from the SDC Policy map is provided at 
Annex 3.  
 

20. Additionally, concern is raised about the Duty to Cooperate in the 
development of the SDC Local Plan and the allocation of Heronby.  
 

Page 8



 

21. The evidence documents specifically related to Heronby are listed below: 
 

• 4b Heronby 1. Illustrative Masterplan 
• 4b Heronby 10. Strategic footpath - As Proposed 
• 4b Heronby 11. Connectivity Hierarchy 
• 4b Heronby 12. Movement Plan 
• 4b Heronby 13. Full Bypass - As Proposed 
• 4b Heronby 14. Escrick Improvements 
• 4b Heronby 15. Phasing plan 
• 4b Heronby 16. Transport Assessment with Appendices (Jan 

2022) 
• 4b Heronby 16a.Transport Assessment Addendum (May 2022) 
• 4b Heronby 17. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Nov 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 18. Heronby Village, Escrick - Tree Report 181121 

(Nov 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 19. Soils and Agriculture to the South West of Escrick 

Road Stillingfleet (Feb 21) 
• 4b Heronby 2. Wider Context Plan - As Proposed-A2 
• 4b Heronby 20. Heronby Heritage Statement (Oct 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 21. Preliminary Appraisal Flood Risk and Drainage 

(Oct 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 22. Flood Risk Annex A - EA Information 
• 4b Heronby 23. Heronby Exhibition boards_v8 
• 4b Heronby 24. Heronby Exhibition Masterplan_v4 
• 4b Heronby 3. Phase 1 plan-A2 
• 4b Heronby 4. Town Centre moved south - A2 
• 4b Heronby 5. Landscape context 
• 4b Heronby 6. Landscape framework 
• 4b Heronby 7. Country Park 
• 4b Heronby 8. Land Use Plan - per use type-A2 
• 4b Heronby 9. Green Space Plan- A2 
• 4b Heronby Heronby Delivery Strategy Exec Summary FINAL 

(Feb 2022) 
• 4b Heronby Heronby Delivery Strategy FINAL (Feb 2022) 

 
22. SDC have also published to support the plan generally (and which have 

relevance to the proposed allocation at Heronby): 
 

 a Strategic Highway Model Stage 2 Transport Forecasting Report 
(August 2022), This document assessed the SDC Local Plan to 
2040, at which point 1,260 homes are forecast to be delivered on 
Heronby  

 Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability Report (January 2021)  

Page 9



 

 Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability Addendum Report (August 
2022) 

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (July 2022)  

 New Settlement Paper (August 2022) 
 

Transport  
  

23. The evidence base includes two transport evidence documents related to 
Heronby: 

 Heronby 16 and Heronby 16a – Transport Assessment produced 
for Escrick Park Estate by Bryan G Hall 

 Strategic Highway Model Stage 2 Transport Forecasting Report 
(August 2022) – produced for SDC by WSP 
 

SDC Transport Evidence  
 

24. The Transport Forecasting Report prepared by SDC in August 2022 only 
provides an assessment to 2040 (the end of the plan period) and does 
not assess Heronby at full build out. Additionally, the Transport 
Assessment (TA) conflicts with the wording of the Policy STIL-D. The 
policy provides for 3,387 dwellings by 2065 with approximately 945 
delivered by 2040. The TA tests 1,260 units to 2040 out of a potential 
4,000 delivered.  

 
25. Given the proximity to the CYC boundary, and in accordance with the 

Duty to Co-operate, as part of the assessment and allocation of Heronby, 
SDC should have approached and worked with CYC officers to agree the 
basic parameters of the transport assessment for the new allocation, 
including but not limited to:  

 forecasts of trip generation; 

 underlying assumptions about the usage of the road network in 
both authorities; 

 the deliverability or otherwise of any highway interventions 
required to mitigate the traffic impact of the new development.   

 
26. SDC has not engaged in any meaningful manner with CYC transport 

officers in relation to the assessment of potential impacts of Heronby on 
the road network within CYC. Neither the Escrick Estates or SDC TAs  
produced for the site have been prepared with engagement with CYC 
nor has CYC reviewed or agreed the transport modelling. This leaves 
CYC in the position of having to consider whether the two TAs effectively 
represent the impact of Heronby on York’s road network, and whether 

Page 10



 

the mitigations set out in the TA – but which are in York, not Selby - are 
deliverable and desirable in York’s view, and in accordance with the 
transport policies in York, which are applied to development in the city.   
 

27. The SDC TA up to 2040 only evaluates a situation where 1,260 homes of 
4,000 are constructed. Firstly, it is not in accordance with the wording of 
the policy in terms of housing numbers and secondly it does not assess 
the full impact of the completed development.  On this basis, the SDC TA 
is not considered to provide a suitable robust evidence base to support 
the allocation.  

 
Transport Assessment – Escrick Park Estate 
 

28. The judgements arrived at in the SDC report are derived from the TA 
prepared by Bryan G Hal. This makes an assessment of development of 
4,000 houses by 2066, as well as an intermediate year assessment 
(2040) when 1,260 houses are delivered.  CYC officers have had no 
involvement in or provided any feedback on the preparation of the 
Transport Assessment prepared by Bryan G Hall.  
 

29. In the TA the number of trips generated by the development is forecast, 
then those trips are distributed to destinations and assigned to road links.  
The mode share methodology used and its application to the site at 
Heronby is not clear.   

 
30. For trip generation forecasts, site context is key and a site which has, for 

example, very good bus or rail links would be expected to generate fewer 
external car trips than one which had poor bus and rail links.  A 
development where most residents also worked within the development 
would also be expected to generate fewer external trips than one where 
most residents commuted to work outside the development.    
 

31. For Heronby, the TA uses an external trip generation factor for the site of 
approximately 0.34 trips per home in the AM peak hour for forecasts to 
2040 (1,260 houses). This equates to one home in 3 on the development 
generating a vehicle trip which leaves the site in a typical AM peak hour.  
This figure is relatively low given the site context and the limited 
sustainable transport offer.  The figure is justified within the document as 
the development contains employment and education as well as homes, 
leading to the conclusion that many trips are internalised within the site.  
However, for comparison, developments of a similar size in York would 
tend to use a 0.5-0.7 trip generation figure.  
 

Page 11



 

32. In the absence of detailed evidence supporting this trip generation figure, 
CYC are not convinced that the TA accurately reflects the impacts on the 
road network.  
 

33. By full build out in 2066 the TA reduces the trip generation figure to 0.18 
trips per dwelling.  This equates to 2 external car trips being generated 
for every 11 homes in an AM peak hour.  This figure is exceeding low for 
reasons which are not clear within the TA. As noted above, in the 
absence of detailed evidence supporting this trip generation figure, CYC 
are not convinced that the TA accurately reflects the impacts on the road 
network.  
 

34. The TA advises that 56% of the external vehicle trips generated by 
Heronby in the AM peak hour are forecasted to travel north of along the 
A19 towards York. 
 

35. Trip rates are fundamental to assessing the traffic impact of a scheme.  
To give an indication of the effect of different trip rates being used for 
Heronby: 
 

 as forecast, at 0.18 trips per dwelling in the AM peak hour at full 
build out, the number of additional trips from Heronby on the A19 
towards York is forecast to be 434 vehicles (about 25% above 
current flows)  
 

 However, if the 2040 trip generation value of 0.34 trips per home 
is used to full build out then the increase would be 843 vehicles 
(approximately 50% above current flow).   

 If a trip rate of 0.6 external vehicle trips per home is used 
(considered generally to be a realistic upper bound for a 
development of this type) then vehicle trips north on the A19 
would be 1,488, nearing a doubling of the current AM peak flow in 
the York direction.   

 
36. Because of the significant differences trip rates have in assessing the 

traffic impact (as shown above), the current trip generation assumptions 
cannot be accepted by CYC without further explanation, clarification and 
justification. 
 

37. Additionally, the TA does not suggest any further sustainable mode 
provision is required beyond what is currently available (bus service 415, 
which skirts the site, and the existing York – Selby cycle track which 
goes through the site). The TA considers the site has a suitable level of 

Page 12



 

sustainable transport provision already based on one bus route and a 
cycle track. CYC do not agree this provision represents a good level of 
sustainable transport options for a settlement of this size for the following 
reasons:    
 

 Whilst bus service 415 is frequent, its journey times to central 
York (which for this service is Piccadilly, not York Railway Station) 
are long during the peaks at 35-40 minutes between Escrick and 
central York 

 Whilst there is a direct bus service to the (southern side of) York 
city centre, there are no direct buses to other important trip 
attractors in York, including the Rail Station, University and the 
business parks at Monks Cross and Clifton Moor.  For many of 
these destinations, using the car is going to be more practical and 
therefore attractive than using the bus and walking to the 
destination or changing to a different bus 

 There are no bus priorities on the A19 between Heronby and the 
Designer Outlet.  Consequently, any increase in journey times as 
a result of Heronby traffic would adversely effect the 
attractiveness of the bus service, which is already impacted by 
traffic congestion 

 The York – Selby cycle track is principally a leisure path.  It is not 
lit and does not go directly to York city centre, limiting its use as a 
year-round commuting route.  York is around 10kms from 
Heronby, a distance which is generally accepted to be only 
attractive to a small minority of cyclists 

 The A19 is a poor environment for cyclists, having no segregated 
cycle facilities, stretches which are unlit and high vehicle speeds 
between Heronby and Designer Outlet.  

 The developers also comment that the Designer Outlet park and 
ride is on the direct route from the site to York city centre, but in 
practice, any such trip would still generate a vehicle movement on 
the congested sections of the A19, so it is unclear what the 
benefit of trips using park and ride would be to the traffic network 
between Heronby and the A64.  

 

38. Critically, the TA does not propose any improvements to bus or cycle 
routes above the current provision for sustainable modes.  This 
compares badly with the similarly sized developments in York, with the 
proposed new garden village ST15 (a slightly smaller allocation) having a 
15% bus mode share target for journeys to work. This is supported with a 
£2 million revenue contribution towards providing a bus service and £4 

Page 13



 

million towards improving walk and cycle routes between the site and 
York incorporated as part of the viability testing of the Plan and 
accompanying Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
 

39. CYC considers that with poor cycle and bus options currently and no 
further improvements or enhancements proposed as part of the 
allocation, a far larger proportion of the trips to/ from Heronby will be by 
car.  Although the TA forecasts that only 53.3% of person trips from 
Heronby will be via private motor vehicle, CYC considers a higher 
proportion of trips from a site like this would be by private motor vehicle. 
Additionally, the total number of trips from Heronby is likely being 
considerably understated because the TA uses low trip generation 
factors which are not robustly justified.   
 

40. CYC considers that in lieu of engagement, joint transport modelling and 
robust evidence to the contrary, the low trip generation figures and modal 
share forecast is not plausible and will act to understate the traffic impact 
of the development on the A19 north of Heronby and Naburn Lane.  
 

Impacts of Heronby trips   
 

41. No improvements to sustainable modes of travel are proposed in the TA. 
However, it does propose a mitigation package of highways 
improvements north of Heronby within the CYC boundary. These 
comprise (amongst other improvements with SDC itself): 

 an Escrick bypass;  

 improvements to the Crockey Hill junction  

 A19/A64 interchange.  
 

 
42. These improvements collectively add over 1 km of widening to the A19. 

These improvements are all located in whole or part, within the CYC 
boundary and therefore on highways for which York is the highways and 
planning authority. Specifically:  

 Several hundred metres of the Escrick bypass, including a large 
new roundabout junction north of Escrick would be built within the 
York boundary, within the greenbelt   

 The A19 widening, whilst within the current highway boundary 
would be significant construction in a rural area  

 Widening the A19 solely for Heronby traffic would prevent the 
delivery of other schemes in the area which CYC wishes to 

Page 14



 

pursue to deliver its own transport policies (for example, schemes 
to improve the road for cyclists or buses/ park and ride)   

 As noted above, the proposal provides no mitigation to improve 
sustainable transport in the same way as required for sites in 
York’s draft Local Plan   

 
43. Additionally, the junction designs and plans for sections of new highways 

provided as part of the evidence base have been prepared without the 
involvement of CYC officers.  As such: 

 CYC do not know if the junctions have been modelled correctly 
with the right information on junction geometry, capacity and 
traffic signal phasings.  The models have not been presented to 
CYC for validation. 

 CYC has not been able to comment on whether the proposed 
modifications to highways are feasible with respect to highways 
land boundaries or location of utilities equipment 

 The improvements have been designed in isolation, without 
consideration for CYC proposals or other impacts identified with 
the emerging CYC Local Plan  

 Particularly in respect of the Escrick bypass, CYC has not been 
able to assess whether the changes are acceptable in planning 
given their location in Green Belt. 

 
44. There is significant uncertainty about (a) whether the proposed 

measures are adequate to deal with the forecast increases in traffic (b) 
whether CYC as both the highways and planning authority would 
approve them and (c) the feasibility, costs and delivery of the measures. 
 

45. The highways measures set out in TA for Escrick Park Estates have a 
considerable cost attached; likely to be in the tens of millions of pounds.  
It is not clear whether the developers of Heronby are proposing to fund 
the new infrastructure themselves.  
 

46. The Transport and Viability Briefing Note (May 2022) referred to in Policy 
STIL-D has not been made available for review by CYC officers as SDC 
advised it was commercially sensitive.  
 

47. In the absence of this information, CYC has to take a cautious approach 
and assume costs of these improvements (some or all) may be required 
to be met from public funds.   
 

48. Because the junction improvements are within CYC administrative 
boundaries, and because funding improvements to reduce congestion 

Page 15



 

normally fall to the local highways authority within whose area the 
improvements are located, CYC should assume the works would 
ultimately be expected to be funded by CYC and not SDC or Escrick 
Park Estates.  This is not acceptable to CYC.  
 

49. Consequently, in terms of transport impacts, it is concluded:  

 The development is in a location which will generate large 
numbers of car trips because bus, cycle and walk alternatives are 
not attractive; 

 The TA appears to underestimate the traffic impacts of the 
development. Certainly, the trip generation and mode share 
figures are lower than those CYC would recognise from other 
similar sites; 

 The modelling work on junctions has not been validated by CYC 
as local highways authority for those junctions.  Some of the 
proposed highway measures may not be feasible or affordable; 

 Even if the measures are feasible, the viability of the 
development, and hence any need for public funding to develop 
the site, is not clear because that information has not been made 
available despite requests to SDC; and 

 The TA contains no proposals to uprate sustainable transport in 
the area to mitigate the traffic growth from the site in a way that 
would be supportive of CYC’s Local Plan’s transport and 
development policies – something that should be incorporated 
into the development through the duty to cooperate 

 
50. The lack of engagement means that the range of significant uncertainties 

associated with the TA has only emerged at a very late stage in Selby’s 
Local Plan making process.  CYC has not been able to raise concerns or 
carry out joint transport work to test and attempt to resolve or mitigate 
the impact of the Heronby allocation. The transport impact of Heronby 
and mitigation proposals set out in the Heronby TA are not acceptable to 
CYC for the reasons given above.    

 
Education 

 
51. The allocation would fall within the catchment area of Fulford School 

which is administered by South York Multi Academy Trust. The proposed 
policy text includes the requirement to provide a new secondary school 
within the site.  The SDC secondary pupil yield is 13% which is 
considerably lower than the 26% recent analysis of new housing 
developments in York, has shown CYC’s secondary pupil yield to be. 
The lower secondary pupil yield used by SDC makes it unlikely that the 

Page 16



 

site will be considered of a suitable size to generate sufficient secondary 
aged pupils to support a new secondary school onsite. 
 

52. If a secondary school is not delivered on site or is delivered at a much 
later stage of the site build out, CYC are concerned about the impact to 
pupils within CYC. Although the statutory duty to ensure sufficient 
secondary school places does not lie with CYC, the additional pupils 
expected to be generated by the proposed development could displace 
City of York children who would historically expect to be allocated a 
place at Fulford School.  
 

53. Fulford School is currently undergoing expansion but further significant 
expansions to the school are not considered feasible. Therefore it is the 
strong preference of CYC that the allocation at Heronby be removed 
from the catchment area of Fulford School to mitigate potential impact to 
CYC students. However, the admission authority for Fulford School, 
South York Multi Academy Trust has advised that the area of the 
proposed development should remain within the catchment area of the 
school at this point in time.  
 

54. Although a preliminary meeting took place between SDC and CYC a 
year ago to discuss the impact of the Heronby allocation, further 
discussions are required to enable CYC to raise concerns and attempt to 
resolve or mitigate issues. As these discussions have not taken place, 
the education implications of the allocation are not acceptable to CYC for 
the reasons given above.    
 

Viability 

55. To support the Local Plan generally and the allocation at Heronby 
specifically, SDC have published a Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability 
Report (January 2021) as well as a Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability 
Addendum Report (August 2022).  
 

56. Additionally, a Transport and Viability Briefing Note (May 2022) is 
referred to in Policy STIL-D specifically related to the Heronby allocation. 
However, this has not been made available for review by SDC due to 
commercial sensitivity.  
 

57. The draft Policy STIL-D identifies significant infrastructure that would be 
required to support Heronby. This includes highways improvement (as 
detailed above) as well as two primary schools, a secondary school and 
health care facilities.  

Page 17



 

 
58. The assessment of Heronby in the Local Plan Viability Assessment 

(January 2021) does not refer to the specific highway or other 
infrastructure requirements, and places the development at high risk, 
concluding that:  

The S106/infrastructure costs are unknown at this early stage and 
the landowner has not confirmed a willingness/understanding to fund 
the S106/infrastructure through land value capture.  

59. The subsequent Addendum report (August 2022), remains silent on 
these matters, despite finding the site to be viable:  

The landowner has been transparent about their land value 
requirements, which de-risks the delivery and is able to withstand 
infrastructure cost increases more than other sites.         

60. Given the restricted availability of the Transport and Viability Briefing 
Note (May 2022), it is not evident to CYC the basis on which conclusions 
in the Viability Addendum have been drawn and no assessment can be 
made on the soundness ofs these assumptions.   
 

61. It is simply unclear from the evidence how infrastructure relating 
specifically to the Heronby allocation is to be delivered or funded.  
 

62. The absence of critical information and the inconsistency with the draft 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) – which refers to developer 
contributions funding the Escrick bypass but provides no indication of 
cost  - calls into question the viability of Heronby’s development and 
undermines SDC’s assumption that the site is developable.  

 
Assessment of New Settlement options 

63. Two other new settlement options have been considered as part of the 
Local Plan’s development: Burn Airfield and Church Fenton. 
 

64. SDC’s evidence shows Burn Airfield to be dismissed on flood risk 
grounds as the entirety of the site is located in Flood Zone 3. Both the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (July 2022) and the New Settlement Paper 
(August 2022) acknowledge that it would not pass the Sequential Test 
for flood risk as other sites with lower risk are available.  
 

65. CYC does not disagree with this conclusion. However, given the severity 
of the site’s flood risk constraint it is not clear why it was originally pursed 
as a credible option/alternative. 
 

Page 18



 

66. Church Fenton, which is wholly previously developed land, is assessed 
as having similar (if not marginally better) sustainability outcomes than 
Heronby. But it is ultimately dismissed because it “is in Flood Zone 2 and 
will involve the loss of a commercial airfield”. This is pitted against the 
wider benefits of Heronby which are stated as being “improvements to 
the highways network and provision of a country park”. For the reasons 
outlined above, CYC is not persuaded that the site can deliver highway 
improvements as it is suggested. 
 

67. Whilst it is accepted that Church Fenton is in Flood Zone 2, the 
assessment in the SA and New Settlement Paper fails to properly 
balance this (which is demonstrated can be adequately mitigated) and 
other surmountable constraints with the genuine opportunities and 
benefits that co-location of a new settlement with the existing and 
approved employment at the site would bring – and indeed other 
compelling strengths of the site such as its brownfield status and 
sustainable transport options.  
 

68. The impacts of Heronby on the strategic highway network are 
acknowledged in the SA insofar as it confirms there are impacts that 
could be mitigated at notable cost. It makes clear that, given the absence 
of any commitment to funding this mitigation, the Church Fenton site is 
the most deliverable. This risk to delivery is not reflected in SDC’s 
justification for the selection of Heronby.  
 

69. SDC consider that an alternative sequentially preferable site (Heronby) in 
flood risk terms is available, however CYC consider the deliverability and 
wider sustainability issues associated with Heronby mean the site is not 
preferable to Church Fenton when considered with balance, judgement 
and reasoning applied. CYC consider the approach taken by SDC is not 
appropriate.     
 

70. SDC has stated that the loss of the airfield is unacceptable without 
providing evidence that this loss is significant and should therefore carry 
more weight in the planning balance.   
 

71. In light of these concerns, CYC does not consider the assessment of the 
three preferred options sites and selection of Heronby as a new 
settlement to be sound.    

 
Draft Duty to Cooperate Statement August 2022  

 

Page 19



 

72. Paragraph 24 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 advises 
that Local Planning Authorities are under a duty to cooperate with each 
other on strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries.   
 

73. Paragraph 27 advises that  
In order to demonstrate effective and on-going joint working, 
strategic policymaking authorities should prepare and maintain one 
or more statements of common ground, documenting the cross-
boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to 
address these. These should be produced using the approach set 
out in national planning guidance, and be made publicly available 
throughout the plan-making process to provide transparency 

74. As part of the evidence base, SDC has published a Draft Duty to 
Cooperate statement. At paragraph 5.24 of this document, in the section 
entitled ‘Neighbouring Authorities’ it is stated: 

Of particular note are ongoing discussions taking place with City of 
York Council regarding the cross-boundary impacts of the proposed 
new settlement at Heronby, including impacts on school places and 
the A19, including the A19/A64 junction. 

75. CYC do not consider this to be factually accurate. Despite two formal 
responses to SDC (as detailed above in ‘Previous consultation with 
Selby District Council)  requesting to be involved in more detailed 
discussions to allow CYC to feed into future cross-boundary transport 
modelling, and to understand the potential impacts for York if the 
allocation at Heronby was to be pursued, no further meetings have been 
held and CYC has not been involved in any of the relevant work related 
to the evidence base for Heronby or its potential impact on CYC.    

 
 

 Recommendation 

76. Object to the Selby Local Plan for the following reasons: 
 

a. Significant shortcomings in the evidence base regarding transport 
impacts to CYC as well as the implications of the necessary 
highway improvements within CYC boundary.  

b. The approach to education provision and the potential impact to 
CYC students is unclear and insufficiently developed. 

c. Questionable deliverability of the Heronby allocation given the lack 
of evidence on the site’s viability. 

Page 20



 

d. Objection to the selection of Heronby as the site for a new 
settlement when assessed against the two other preferred options 
and, more specifically, against Church Fenton. 

e. CYC consider that SDC has not fulfilled its requirements under Duty 
to Cooperate having not engaged with CYC in developing the 
evidence base and considering cross administrative boundary 
strategic matters that arise as a result of the Heronby allocation and 
the potential for significant adverse impacts on CYC. 

 
Consultation  
 
77. The report relates to CYC as a consultee regarding an adjoining 

borough’s Local Plan.  
 

78. The Strategic Planning Policy team have sought the view of both 
transport and education officers and incorporated the responses into the 
report.  
 

Options 
 
79. Submit an objection response to SDC in response to the consultation on 

the pre-submission Local Plan for the reasons outlined above.  
 

80. Do not submit an objection response to SDC in response to the 
consultation on the pre-submission Local Plan 
 
 

Analysis 
 

81. By submitting a response CYC ensures that SDC is aware of the 
concerns CYC have in regards to the allocation at Heronby. The 
response would also highlight CYC concerns regarding the Duty to 
Cooperate.  
 

82. If CYC chose not to respond at this (Regulation 19) stage of the Local 
Plan process, there would not be the opportunity to respond at later 
stages of the process, including not being able to appear at the Local 
Plan Examination in Public. By not submitting a response to the 
consultation, there is a risk that the significant issues identified in relation 
to the proposed allocation at Heronby are not communicated clearly to 
SDC. 

 
 

Page 21



 

Implications 
 
83. The decision relates to consultation on an adjoining borough’s emerging 

Local Plan and the impact the Heronby allocation within that would 
potentially have on CYC. While, if adopted, the allocation at Heronby 
could have significant impacts on CYC as set out above, the risk is 
longer term. SDC have not submitted the Local Plan formally to the 
Planning Inspectorate and, if submitted, there are significant stages for 
the Plan to go through before it reached the point of adoption.  
  

84. Submitting a response to Selby District Council’s Regulation 19 
Consultation would ensure that CYC would also have further opportunity 
to attend the Local Plan Examination in Public to make representations 
in person.  

 
Legal Implications 
 
There is a legal duty placed on Selby District Council to engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis with other local authorities 
in relation to strategic matters when preparing a new local plan, including 
those matters that cross the district boundary. SDC have failed to engage 
with CYC at key stages on cross boundary issues. 
 
SDC’s Statement of Community Involvement (2020) states that: “The duty to 
cooperate applies to strategic issues which have significant impacts 
affecting two or more local authority areas. The Council’s participation in 
cross-boundary planning with its duty to cooperate partners which include 
neighbouring authorities…will be an ongoing process throughout the 
preparation of the Local Plan”. 
 
As set out in this report, it is considered that SDC’s Local Plan has not been 
prepared in compliance with statutory requirements or with their Statement 
of Community Involvement. Accordingly it cannot be considered to be legally 
compliant for the purposes of a Local Plan examination. 

 
   

Risk Management 
 

85. Submitting a response at Regulation 19 of the Local Plan process 
ensures that CYC can continue to engage in the SDC Local Plan 
process and appear at the Local Plan Examination in Public if necessary.  

  
 

Page 22



 

Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 

Kirstin Clow 
Interim Head of Strategic 
Planning Policy  
Dept Name Strategic 
Planning Policy  
 
 

Neil Ferris 
Corporate Director Place 
 

Report 
Approved 

√ 
Date 14/10/2022 

 
 

    
 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
                    
Legal: 
Name Heidi Lehane 
Title Senior Solicitor 
Tel No. 01904 555859  
 

Wards Affected: All √ 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
 

• 4b Heronby 1. Illustrative Masterplan 
• 4b Heronby 10. Strategic footpath - As Proposed 
• 4b Heronby 11. Connectivity Hierarchy 
• 4b Heronby 12. Movement Plan 
• 4b Heronby 13. Full Bypass - As Proposed 
• 4b Heronby 14. Escrick Improvements 
• 4b Heronby 15. Phasing plan 
• 4b Heronby 16. Transport Assessment with Appendices (Jan 

2022) 
• 4b Heronby 16a.Transport Assessment Addendum (May 2022) 
• 4b Heronby 17. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Nov 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 18. Heronby Village, Escrick - Tree Report 181121 

(Nov 2021) 

Page 23



 

• 4b Heronby 19. Soils and Agriculture to the South West of Escrick 
Road Stillingfleet (Feb 21) 

• 4b Heronby 2. Wider Context Plan - As Proposed-A2 
• 4b Heronby 20. Heronby Heritage Statement (Oct 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 21. Preliminary Appraisal Flood Risk and Drainage 

(Oct 2021) 
• 4b Heronby 22. Flood Risk Annex A - EA Information 
• 4b Heronby 23. Heronby Exhibition boards_v8 
• 4b Heronby 24. Heronby Exhibition Masterplan_v4 
• 4b Heronby 3. Phase 1 plan-A2 
• 4b Heronby 4. Town Centre moved south - A2 
• 4b Heronby 5. Landscape context 
• 4b Heronby 6. Landscape framework 
• 4b Heronby 7. Country Park 
• 4b Heronby 8. Land Use Plan - per use type-A2 
• 4b Heronby 9. Green Space Plan- A2 
• 4b Heronby Heronby Delivery Strategy Exec Summary FINAL 

(Feb 2022) 
• 4b Heronby Heronby Delivery Strategy FINAL (Feb 2022) 

 

 Strategic Highway Model Stage 2 Transport Forecasting Report 
(August 2022), This document assessed the SDC Local Plan to 
2040, at which point 1,260 homes are forecast to be delivered on 
Heronby  

 Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability Report (January 2021)  

 Selby Local Plan and CIL Viability Addendum Report (August 
2022) 

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (July 2022)  

 New Settlement Paper (August 2022) 
 

 
Annexes 

 Annex 1: CYC response to Selby District Council’s Preferred Options 
Local Plan, March 2021  

 Annex 2: : CYC response to Selby District Local Plan Evidence Base 
Documents Consultation, October 2021  

 Annex 3: Pre-Submission STIL-D Heronby Policy   
     
 
List of Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 
SDC = Selby District Council 

Page 24



 

CYC = City of York Council 
IDP – Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
TA = Travel Assessment  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Director Economy and Place: Neil Ferris 

 
 

Economy and Place Directorate 

Forward Planning  

West Offices 

Station Rise 

York YO1 6GA 

Forward Planning Manager 
Selby District Council 
 
By Email only 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
18 March 2021 

Dear Ms Skelly, 
 
Response to Selby District Council’s Preferred Options Local Plan 
(2021) 
 
Thank you for providing us with the opportunity to comment on Selby 
District Council’s Preferred Options Local Plan (2021). Acknowledging 
the range of planning matters addressed by the emerging Local Plan for 
Selby, we are keen to ensure there is ongoing engagement with Selby 
District Council in relation to progressing final options and in 
constructively moving towards Submission.  We highlight the following 
further matters for consideration at this stage. 
 
Additionally, we continue to support the approach taken by the City of 
York and Selby District Councils through the Duty to Co-operate, to meet 
their own objectively assessed housing needs within their own 
administrative areas, as agreed in the Joint Position Statement between 
the City of York and Selby District Council in relation to the Housing 
Market Area, April 2020 [CYC examination library ref: EX/CYC/38].  We 
recognise that there are clear, functional links between York and Selby 
Districts and both authorities have worked together, through the Duty to 
Co-operate, to ensure that housing needs are fully met across the 
Housing Market Area. 
 
Spatial Strategy 
We support the Plan’s general approach to strengthen, through 
regeneration, the role of Selby as the Principal Town, and sensitive 
heritage-led regeneration in Tadcaster, acknowledging the constraints of 
adjacent Green Belt.  Notwithstanding our concerns in relation to the 
specific development option at Stillingfleet (see further detailed 
comments below), we acknowledge that the Plan appropriately reflects 

Annex 1Page 27



Corporate Director Economy and Place: Neil Ferris 

NPPF2019 (para 72) in presenting options to address its development 
needs in a sustainable way, including through planning for a new 
community which will develop within Garden Village principles.  We 
further note that the approach references NPPF2019 (para 137), and 
prioritises sustainably located non-green belt sites. 
 
Housing requirement and supply 
The published ‘Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(Oct, 2020)’ (HEDNA) undertakes an assessment of local housing need 
using the Standard Method and determines housing need in Selby 
District as 342 dpa.  Reflecting NPPF para 60, this figure represents the 
minimum number of homes needed.  While the Standard method 
removes consideration of economic growth, Local Authorities are still 
required to align housing and economic strategies, and we acknowledge 
that the Plan supports an economic growth led strategy, with its focus on 
ensuring greater levels of in-commuting and self-containment of jobs. 
We note that the HEDNA advises “...the Council will need to increase 
housing need by a modest amount to service the employment potential 
at the strategic sites.  The scale of uplift will ultimately depend on where 
the workforce is being drawn from.”  In response, Policy SG2 sets out 
housing requirement for the District of 8040 dwellings/402 dpa (reflecting 
382dpa growth from modelled delivery of Strategic employment sites, 
plus 5% buffer to provide flexibility and ensure sufficient delivery where 
sites may not come forward). 
 
Noting the planned housing requirement of 402dpa, the projected 
oversupply of 1,220 dwellings represents an additional 3 years of 
delivery.  Given the shared Housing Market Area, we welcome further 
engagement to understand the potential impacts of delivering at this level 
of oversupply. 
 
 Plan housing requirement 

(402dpa) 

2020-2040 8040 

Preferred Option 6967 

Committed supply 2293 

Residual 1220 oversupply 

 
 
Employment land supply 
We note that the published HEDNA suggests that there is sufficient 
supply of employment land to meet development needs in the District in 
the Plan period, however the Plan allocates sites at Gascoigne Wood 
and Olympia Park for sustainable economic growth.  We note the 
ambitions of the council to ensure choice and churn in the market and 
additional land to meet economic growth aspirations. Whilst we accept 
we are currently both meeting our development needs, we would 

Page 28



Corporate Director Economy and Place: Neil Ferris 

welcome further discussion in relation to employment growth where 
opportunities arise to address cross boundary growth in certain 
employment sectors. 
 
New Settlement Options 
As is highlighted above, NPPF2019 is supportive of planning for larger 
scale development, such as new settlements or significant extensions to 
existing villages and towns, provided they are well located and designed, 
and supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities.  The 
emerging Plan is clear that the new mixed use settlement will be brought 
forward as comprehensive phased development, in accordance with an 
agreed masterplan, and within the 9 Guiding Principles for Garden 
Villages.   
 
We are concerned that Land South of Escrick Road, Stillingfleet (STIL-D) 
does not represent a suitable or sustainable location for development.  
The capacity of the A19 is a critical issue for York as this is a key 
commuting route between the two authorities.  The cumulative and 
significantly adverse impacts to the capacity of our road infrastructure 
would be difficult to resolve, even with proposed mitigation (likely to be 
required within the CYC area and especially at the A19/A64 junction).  It 
is therefore our view that we could not support a new settlement in this 
location.  Should this option be pursued we would welcome more 
detailed discussions to allow us to feed into future cross-boundary 
transport modelling, and to understand the potential impacts for York. 
 
It is our view that Church Fenton Airbase (CFAB-A) offers the greatest 
potential for a sustainable new community.  In particular, Church Fenton 
station and its linkages to both York and Leeds could positively impact 
modal shift in terms of travel patterns.  Land is 100% brownfield, and the 
majority non-agricultural.  Further, the site’s proximity to growing 
digital/creative industries offers potential reciprocal benefits.  In the 
context of the sub-region’s commitment to zero-carbon and the Plan’s 
Climate Change objectives, we consider the site has much positive to 
offer. 
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment 
The District has a number of areas which are important ecological 
habitats, including the River Derwent, Lower Derwent Valley and 
Skipwith Common which have both European conservation status and 
are nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), and 
which have shared boundaries with York.  We draw your attention to the 
published “Habitats Regulations Assessment of the City of York Council 
Local Plan” (Oct 2020, published Dec 2020) and in particular the 
identified likely risks to these sites from plans and projects, alone or in 

Page 29



Corporate Director Economy and Place: Neil Ferris 

combination.  We would welcome further discussion to align evidence 
and assessment in relation to these important sites.   
 
Climate Change 
York and North Yorkshire LEP have committed to making the region the 
UK’s first zero carbon city sub-region.  Climate change is a key challenge 
facing the District, and we support that the emerging Plan identifies 
climate change specifically and across Plan objectives, including through 
encouraging resilient and adaptive measures.  We particularly note that 
the emerging Spatial Growth strategy embeds this objective in policy 
across the following aspects: 
• reduced emissions through sustainable design policy and 

promoting adaptation of existing buildings; 
• locating new development in sustainable locations, low carbon 

travel and ensuring new residential development provides electric 
car charging;  

• supporting new advances in carbon capture, agri-technology and 
renewable energy development,  

• improvements to the natural environment, recognising the role of 
habitats in carbon sequestration and supporting significant new 
tree planting, hedgerows and creation of wetlands. 

 
We trust our response represents constructive input in progressing Selby 
District’s Local Plan, and we look forward to further ongoing discussion.  
In the meantime, if you should wish to discuss this response further 
please do get in touch. 
 
Yours Sincerely 
 

Michael Slater 

 
Michael Slater 
Assistant Director for Planning and Public Protection 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Corporate Director of Place - Neil Ferris 

 
 

Place Directorate 
Forward Planning Team 
City of York Council 
West Offices 
Station Rise 
York  
YO1 6GA 

 
 
 
Ms Caroline Skelly, 
Planning Policy Team, 
Selby District Council, 
Civic Centre, 
Doncaster Road, 
Selby, 
YO8 9FT 
 
Via email only 
 
 
 

 
Date: 14/10/21 

Dear Ms Skelly, 
 

Local Plan Evidence Base Consultation 2021 
 
Thank you for inviting the City of York Council to comment on the above 
Consultation. Our comments below relate to the Stage One Green Belt Review: 
Exceptional Circumstances (September 2021). 
 
We note the Stage One Green Belt Review and welcome its outcomes. We 
particularly note Selby District Council’s demonstration in this Stage 1 review the 
ability to accommodate all the development requirements over the plan period in 
sustainable locations outside the York and Leeds Green Belts. It is also noted that 
the Council’s HEDNA recommends 110.2ha of employment land provision to 2040, 
and a minimum of 382 dwellings per annum (exceeding the figure of 342 dwellings 
per annum, using the Government’s current standard methodology), to support the 
level of growth proposed. Including a proposed buffer, this would equate to a total of 
8,040 new dwellings over the plan period from 2020 to 2040. We also recognise that 
through the Council’s ‘Call for Sites’, 213 non-green belt sites have passed the initial 
sift, providing a total of up to 525ha of employment land and over 31,000 dwellings, 
demonstrating that there is potentially sufficient suitable and available land for 
development outside the Green Belt, with the capacity to far exceed the District’s 
objectively assessed needs for both housing and employment. Subject to the 
preferred options and quanta chosen, we would be pleased to continue discussions 
regarding cross boundary implications of development. 
 
City of York Council also supports Selby District Council’s intention to make minor 
changes to the Green Belt boundaries in terms of tidying up the Green Belt 
boundaries where there are cartographic errors and minor anomalies; we 

Annex 2Page 31



Corporate Director of Place - Neil Ferris 

understand that this will be set out in a Minor Green Belt Boundary Amendment 
paper in due course. In order to retain consistency for the elements of the York 
Green Belt boundary as a whole, we suggest that the SDC adopt a similar approach 
to the permanency criteria set out in our evidence base - the TP1 Approach to 
defining York’s Green Belt Addendum 2021 (EX/CYC/59) and Annex 2 ‘York Green 
Belt Outer Boundary’ (EX/CYC/59b), as set out in the links below. 

 
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/6526/ex-cyc-59-topic-paper-1-approach-to-
defining-green-belt-addendum-january-2021 
 
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/6529/ex-cyc-59b-topic-paper-1-green-belt-
addendum-january-2021-annex-2-outer-boundary  

 
Given the evidence set out in the Stage One Green Belt Review, wherein there are 
sufficient sites which are available, viable and sustainable outside the York and 
Leeds Green Belts, it is agreed that there would be no obligation at this stage to 
undertake Stages 2 and 3 of a Green Belt Review. 
 
We continue to note that there is an intention by Selby District Council to progress a 
new settlement as part of the proposed spatial strategy to deliver housing needs. 
We understand that this work is currently progressing and would welcome further 
engagement with City of York Council when appropriate. We would particularly like 
early engagement should a new settlement or growth be preferred in the vicinity of 
Escrick village, to discuss potential impacts on related cross-boundary infrastructure 
(particularly the A19 corridor).  
 
We trust these comments are helpful. Should you need any clarification of our 
comments, please let me know. 
 
Yours Sincerely 
 

Alison Cooke 
 

Alison Cooke 
Head of Strategic Planning Policy 

Page 32



Annex 3: Pre-Submission STIL-D Heronby Policy  

10  New Settlement (Heronby) 

STIL-D 

Location: Heronby (Land to the south of Escrick Road, Stillingfleet) 

Total Site Area: 173 Ha 

 
 

This site is allocated as a New Settlement 

Indicative dwelling capacity: 3387 dwellings by 2065 (approximately 945 within the Local 

Plan Period of 2040) 

Site Requirements 

The Heronby New Settlement should be developed in accordance with a clear Vision and 

Masterplan for the site accompanied by a suite of Design Codes to be agreed by 

the  Council and developed in co-ordination with the local communities of Escrick, 

Stillingfleet and the Local Highways Authority. The Masterplan should further develop the 

concept Masterplan set out in the Heronby Delivery Strategy February 2022 and 

incorporate proposals to promote active travel, the provision of a village centre, a new 

country park between the site and the village of Escrick and deliver high levels of 

sustainability.  The Masterplan must be accompanied by a phasing and delivery strategy 

for the site developed in conjunction with infrastructure providers and approved by the 

Council in order to ensure that requirements are in place to support the new community. 

Page 33



The provision of a new Primary School, employment land and Village Centre must be 

included within Phase 1.  

 

A key issue to be addressed will be minimising the impact on the A19 and the A19/A 64 

roundabout. The site promoters have prepared a detailed Transport Assessment (February 

2022) and Transport and Viability Briefing Note (May 2022). The Transport Assessment 

has been prepared using assumptions based upon a Decide and Provide approach, which 

includes 50% internalisation of trips. In order to ensure the development does not have 

significant adverse impact on the highway network at the planning application stage a clear 

strategy will need to be submitted which demonstrates that these levels are attainable 

through proposals which will deliver a significant modal shift and proposals on the site 

which will achieve these high levels of trip rate internalisation. The site promoter will be 

required to undertake annual modal shift surveys to demonstrate that assumptions are being 

delivered and where required further mitigation measures may be required.  

 

The development will also be required to deliver the following highway infrastructure 

improvements as set out in the Transport Assessment subject to agreement by the Local 

Highways Authority and National Highways: 

 Footway/cycleway on A19 between Escrick Road and Carr Lane and signalised 

pedestrian crossing. 

 Vehicular access to the site from both the A19 and B122, through the provision of 

a new roundabout to provide access onto the A19. 

 Skipwith Road/A19 traffic signal improvements. 

 Crockey Hill/A19 junction improvements. 

 Escrick bypass. 

 A64/A19 junction improvements. 

The site promoter will be required to agree the phasing plan for these interventions with the 

Local Highways Authority and National Highways at the planning application stage.  

 

 

In addition to satisfying these requirements and relevant planning policies, development 

proposals on this site will be required to: 

1. Provide a minimum of 20% affordable housing and a range of sizes and types 

of homes to meet the requirements of the Housing and Economic Development 

Needs Assessment or successor document in order to create a new  socially 

inclusive community.  

2. Work with Health and Adult Social Care providers to ensure the delivery of a 

new care village on site to meet the needs older people or those with learning 

disabilities.       

3. Provide two new primary schools, a new secondary school, health care and 

other services to meet the day to day needs of residents. 

4. Provide 5ha of employment land. 

Page 34



5. Ensure Design codes respond appropriately to the setting of the site and reflect 

local characteristics. 

6. Use a sequential approach to residual flood risk when locating the various uses 

on the site, in accordance with the requirements set out in the Council’s level 2 

SFRA. A site specific flood risk assessment will be required to address relative 

vulnerabilities across the site. 

7.  Provide a comprehensive network of cycleways and footpaths within the site 

and connections to the Trans Pennine Trail running through the site in order to 

prioritise opportunities for active travel and linkages to the villages of Escrick 

and Stillingfleet. 

8. Ensure that addressing the impacts of climate change are integral to the design 

of the development, through maximising opportunities for community energy 

schemes, carbon neutral development and the incorporation of a network of 

Sustainable Drainage Systems. 

9. Ensure that the existing Ancient Woodland is protected and enhanced and that 

the Masterplan includes a detailed long-term strategy to avoid and mitigate for 

impacts in this area of woodland including how ecological linkages between 

nearby ancient woodland blocks can be protected and enhanced. 

10.  Provide a comprehensive landscaping strategy to ensure the delivery of a 

range of multi-functional open spaces including formal recreation spaces, areas 

for growing food such as orchards and allotments and natural habitat areas. 

11. Be supported by a Heritage Impact Assessment which looks to preserve or 

enhance the Escrick Conservation Area.  

12. A new waste water treatment works should be provided to support the 

development of the site and sustainable drainage systems should be 

incorporated into the design of the development. Reinforcement of the waster 

supply system will need to be developed through working closely with 

Yorkshire Water. 

  Supporting Information 

a. The provision of a New Settlement at Heronby will help to meet the longer 

term growth of the District beyond the end of this Local Plan period. The site 

provides the opportunity to create a well designed mixed new community with 

a range of local facilities. The Council's Objectives for the New Settlement, 

which reflect Garden City Principles are:- 

 Provide mixed-tenure homes and housing types that are genuinely 

affordable; 

 The creation of a range of local job opportunities within easy 

commuting distance of homes; 

 Beautifully and imaginatively designed homes with gardens, 

combining the best of town and country to create healthy 

communities; 

 Development that enhances the natural environment, providing a 

comprehensive green infrastructure network and biodiversity gains 

Page 35



and that uses zero-carbon and energy-positive technology to 

ensure climate resilience; 

 Strong cultural, recreational and shopping facilities in walkable, 

vibrant sociable neighbourhoods. 

b. The site promoters have prepared a detailed Highways Assessment to 

demonstrate the likely impact on the highway network, based on a number of 

assumptions. At the planning application stage the promoters will need to 

provide a clear strategy for interventions which demonstrate how 

internalisation at 50% can be delivered and a detailed costed phasing plan for 

the delivery of mitigation measures along the A19 and A19/A64 roundabout.  

c. It is anticipated that approximately 945 new dwellings will be built within the 

Local Plan period up to 2040, with the remainder of the site being completed 

by approximately 2065, which reflects the longer lead in times likely to ensure 

improvements to infrastructure can be delivered in timely manner. The 

delivery of improvements to local infrastructure is crucial to ensuring the 

development meets the objectives set out above and therefore a detailed 

implementation strategy, informed by engagement with infrastructure 

providers should be submitted with any planning application. The New 

Settlement should be sustainable and therefore new community facilities and 

employment land will be brought forward alongside housing.  

 

 

Page 36


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 City of York Council response to consultation on Selby District Council ‘Pre-submission Publication Local Plan consultation’
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3


